IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EVELYN GWEN MOORE

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

v.

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00041

DELTA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi

Prepared and Submitted By:

JARED A. KOBS

Mississippi Stamps & Stamps

269 East Pearl Street

Jackson, Mississippi 39201

Post Office Box 2916

Jackson, Mississippi 39207-2916

Telephone: (601) 354-4747 Facsimile: (601) 354-0546

Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EVELYN GWEN MOORE

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

v.

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00041

DELTA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

On November 21, 2007, the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi, Honorable Betty W. Sanders, presiding, entered an Order Striking Plaintiff's Expert Witnesses and Granting Summary Judgment and Entering Final Judgment.

Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff/Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal on December 19, 2007.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Evelyn Gwen Moore, Plaintiff-Appellant herein, being aggrieved by the judgment of the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi, as rendered in civil action number CI2005-61, hereby prosecutes this, her Appeal, to the Supreme Court of Mississippi.

The Appellant respectfully submits the following issues for review by the Court:

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT RICHARD SOBEL, M.D., WAS NOT FULLY DISCLOSED BY THE DATED SET FORTH IN THE AGREED SCHEDULING ORDER.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING MOORE'S
 EXPERT WITNESSES AND GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT
 TO DELTA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT
 A CONTINUANCE OF TRIAL TO THE PREVIOUSLY SCHEDULED
 AND RESERVED ALTERNATE TRIAL DATE SET BY ORDER OF
 THE TRIAL COURT.

Each of the above issues requires reversal of the judgment rendered in civil action number CI2005-61.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below.

This is a medical malpractice action filed by Evelyn Gwen Moore ("Moore") against Delta Regional Medical Center ("DRMC").¹ The course of proceedings in this civil action is briefly summarized below:

March 18, 2005	-	Moore files her Complaint against DRMC. (CP-3-14).
April 12, 2005	-	Without filing an answer and defenses, DRMC immediately files its Motion to Dismiss based on the "failure to the [Moore] to comply with the terms and provisions of the Mississippi Malpractice Tort Reform Act ['MMTRA'], as amended, and the terms and provisions of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ['MTCA']." (CP-29-30). Former counsel for Moore did not attach the certificate of consultation.
April 15, 2005	-	Moore files her Motion for More Definite Statement requesting that the Court order DRMC to provide Moore with specific facts supporting its conclusion that Moore failed to comply with the terms and provisions of the MMTRA and MTCA. (CP-31-32).
June 27, 2005	-	Moore files her Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint seeking leave to amend in order that she may file her Certificate of Consultation in compliance with Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-1-58. (CP-39-44).
July 12, 2005	-	DRMC files its Response to Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint, stating that it "does not Contest [Moore]'s Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint, as such relief 'shall be freely given when justice so requires.' Miss. R. Civ. P. 15(a)." (CP-45-46).
October 5, 2005	-	The trial court enters an Agreed Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint. (CP-47-48).
October 20, 2005	- 	Having not received a copy of the "Filed" Order allowing

¹ Robert S. Corkern, M.D., was also a party to this lawsuit, but on December 8, 2006, Dr. Corkern was dismissed with prejudice by the trial court because he was not served with a notice of claim letter by former counsel for Moore. (CP-507-508).

Moore to Amend her Complaint, counsel for Moore contacts the trial court Clerk's Office to determine whether Judge Betty W. Sanders had executed and filed with the Clerk the Agreed Order Grating Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint, and counsel for Moore was advised that same had been executed by Judge Sanders on October 3, 2005, and filed on October 5, 2005. (CP-47-48)

October 24, 2005 -	Moore immediately fil	es
--------------------	-----------------------	----

Moore immediately files her Amended Complaint against DRMC. (CP-49-63).

October 28, 2005 - DRMC files its Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice (seeking

dismissal of Moore's Amended Complaint) based on the statute of limitations and stating that Moore's Amended Complaint could not relate back to the filing of Moore's

original Complaint. (CP-66-100).

November 7, 2005 - Moore files her Motion for More Definite Statement. (CP-

109-111).

November 8, 2005 - Moore files her Response to DRMC's Motion to Dismiss.

(CP-118-170).

March 16, 2006 - DRMC's Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice came on for

hearing, and the trial court <u>stayed ruling on the motion</u> until the Mississippi Supreme Court decided the case of *Nelson v. Baptist Mem. Hospital*² and limited discovery was conducted in regard to Robert S. Corkern, M.D.'s, employment status.

(CP-213-14).

March 17, 2006- Almost <u>five (5) month</u> period of time during which the trial court stayed the ruling on DRMC's Motion to Dismiss

pending the Mississippi Supreme Court decision in Nelson.

August 10, 2006 - DRMC files its Supplemental Reply to Plaintiff's Response

to DRMC's Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice based on the then-recent Mississippi Supreme Court decision of *Walker v. Whitfield Nursing Center*, *Inc.*, 931 So. 2d 583 (Miss. 2006), alleging it to be on point with the issue pending in the case

sub judice. (CP-317-408).

August 16, 2006 - Moore files her Supplemental Response to DRMC's

² Counsel for DRMC advised the trial court that *Nelson* was pending before this Court and was dispositive of the case sub judice.

		Supplemental Reply to Moore's Response to DRMC's Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice. (CP-409-60).
November 28, 2006	-	DRMC's Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice came on again for hearing. (CP-502-03).
November 29, 2006- April 8, 2007		Approximately <u>five (5) months passed</u> between the time DRMC's Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice came on for hearing and was argued and the trial court made a ruling on same. At the November 28, 2006 hearing, the trial court <u>reserved its ruling</u> on DRMC's Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice.
April 9, 2007	-	Approximately five (5) months following the hearing on DRMC's Motion to Dismiss and after approximately two (2) years of various outstanding motions to dismiss filed by DRMC, the trial court entered an Order denying DRMC's Motion to Dismiss. (CP-847).
April 12, 2007	-	Over (two) 2 years following the filing of Moore's Complaint and one and a half (1 1/2) years following the filing of Moore's Amended Complaint, DRMC finally filed its Answer, Motion & Affirmative Defenses to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint. (CP-517-25).
April 12, 2007	-	Following a telephone conference between Linda Townsend, Judge Sanders' Court Administrator, wherein Ms. Townsend advised the parties that June 9, 2008, was to be set as the trial date, counsel for Moore forwards a proposed Order to the trial court for execution. (CP-528-29).
April 24, 2007	-	Ms. Townsend contacts the parties and advises them that Judge Sanders wants the trial to be set in 2007 despite DRMC's answer only having been filed on April 12, 2007, and zero discovery having had time to be conducted. (CP-531-32).
April 26, 2007	-	DRMC files Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and Stay of Trial Court Action with the Mississippi Supreme Court based on the denial of their Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice.
May 1, 2007	-	DRMC files Motion for 2008 Trial Setting alleging that a 2007 trial setting was too early. (CP-530-40).
May 8, 2007		Moore files her Response to DRMC's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and for Stay of Trial Court Action.

May 23, 2007	-	Mississippi Supreme Court denied DRMC's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and Stay of Trial Court Action.
May 29, 2007	-	DRMC files its Motion for Rehearing of Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and Motion to Stay.
May 30, 2007	-	Moore files her Response to DRMC's Motion for Rehearing of Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and Motion to Stay.
June 1, 2007	-	Moore re-serves discovery requests on DRMC per counsel's request. (CP-546-47).
June 6, 2007	-	Less than 6 months prior to the trial date, the Court enters an Order of Continuance and Agreed Scheduling Order setting the trial date for December 3, 2007. (CP-548-49). Importantly, this Order also set an <u>ALTERNATE TRIAL</u> <u>DATE FOR JUNE 9, 2008</u> . (CP-549).
June 20, 2007	-	Mississippi Supreme Court denies DRMC's Motion for Rehearing of Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and Motion to Stay. (CP-580).
August 24, 2007	-	Moore timely files <i>Designation of Expert Witnesses</i> listing Richard M. Sobel, M.D., M.P.H., as her expert. (CP-612-14). In the Designation, Moore states that Dr. Sobel is expected to testify regarding the breach of the standard of care owed to Plaintiff by DRMC and Robert Corkern, M.D., among other things. (CP-612-14).
September 12, 2007	-	Moore files <i>First</i> Supplemental Designation of Expert Witnesses listing Richard M. Sobel, M.D., M.P.H., and Netra Cattenhead, CFNP as her experts. (CP-648-65).
September 26, 2007	-	DRMC finally responds to Moore's Request for Production of Document and Interrogatories. (CP-680-85).
October 11, 2007	-	DRMC files its Motion for Summary Judgment based upon an alleged "inadequate" designation of expert witnesses and "inadequate" response to interrogatories. (CP-711-51). DRMC never files a Motion to Compel more complete answers to the discovery propounded to Moore. DRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment was <u>not</u> based on an undisputed question of material fact, but rather that Moore's experts were "inadequately" designated. DRMC attempted to put the cart before the horse.

October 23, 2007	-	Moore files her Second Supplemental Designation of Expert Witnesses more specifically stating the substance of Dr. Sobel's expected testimony. (CP-786-800).
November 1, 2007	•	DRMC files its Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Medical Experts. (CP-1014-81). This Motion was filed after Moore's Second Supplemental Designation of Expert Witnesses was filed.
November 1, 2007	-	DRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment comes before the trial court for hearing. (CP-778-80). The trial court takes this motion under advisement until depositions of Moore's expert and DRMC's Motion to Strike Moore's experts are before the trial court.
November 5, 2007	-	Moore files her Response to DRMC's Motion to Strike Moore's Medical Experts, or <u>In the Alternative, Motion to Continue Trial to Alternate Trial Date</u> . (CP-1093-1113).
November 13, 2007	-	DRMC's Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Medical Experts come on for hearing before the trial court. (CP- 1130-31).
November 15, 2007	-	Moore files Notice of Supplemental Evidentiary Material in Support of Opposition to DRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP-1132-44).
November 21, 2007	-	The trial court grants DRMC's Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Medical Experts, and therefore, since Moore does not have any medical experts to testify to the breach of the standard of care, the trial court grants DRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP-1149-50).
December 19, 2007	-	Moore files her Notice of Appeal with this Court. (CP-1153-54).

B. Statement of the Facts

On or around September 20, 2003, Appellant, Evelyn Gwen Moore ("Moore"), was examined at the Emergency Department at Delta Regional Medical Center ("DRMC"). (CP-51). Moore's treating emergency room physician was Robert Corkern, M.D. (CP-52). Upon admission to DRMC, Moore's blood pressure was 265/158, which is considered a hypertensive emergency. (CP-52). Moore was also in renal failure along with a low potassium level. (CP-52). Dr. Corkern assessed

Moore's lab values, and sent Moore to the nursing unit. (CP-52). However, based upon the lab as well as physical findings, Moore should have been ordered to go to ICU/CCU critical care units, as it was important to monitor her blood pressure on a regular basis. (CP-52).

Additionally, Dr. Corkern ordered specific amount of medication be given to Moore, but as alleged in her Amended Complaint, she was given at least two (2) medication errors by DRMC's nurses.

During the time Moore was at DRMC, after receiving the 200MG dose of normadyne within a five (5) minute period Moore experienced a sudden drop in her blood pressure to 100/80. (CP-52-53). Moore alleges in her Amended Complaint that she believes that the increased amounts of normadyne being given so rapidly caused her to vomit which lead to a sudden drop in her blood pressure. (CP-53). As a result of DRMC's emergency room physician, Dr. Corkern, and nurses, lowering her blood pressure rapidly, Moore suffered a stroke.

Additionally, once Moore arrived to the nursing unit, two medication errors were made by Ms. Emma Ware, LPN. (CP-52-53). Dr. Corkern wrote an order to give clonidine 0.2MG every six(6) hours for a diastolic blood pressure greater than 100. (CP-52-53). However, the second dose of clonidine was received by Moore approximately four (4) hours sooner than she should have received. (CP-52-53).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in granting DRMC's Motion to Strike Moore's Medical Experts, and thereafter, granting DRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing Moore's civil action with prejudice. Despite Dr. Richard Sobel, one of Moore's medical expert, being designated according to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b) by the expert designation deadline, the trial court struck him from testifying. Not only did Moore initially designate Dr. Sobel, Moore supplemented his designation on two separate occasions to add more specific information to his opinions, the last of which was forty-three (43) days prior to the trial of this matter and prior to DRMC filing its Motion to Dismiss Moore's Medical Experts. Moore also designated Netra Cattenhead, CFNP, who was designated 83 days prior to trial. Additionally, it is important to note that Moore's experts were designated prior to the expiration of the discovery deadline.

DRMC's allegation that it was unable to prepare for these witnesses' testimony forty-three (43) days prior to trial is unfounded, as DRMC was unable to show prejudice. On the other hand, Moore was unduly prejudiced by the dismissal of her experts and the granting of summary judgment.

Additionally, the trial court erred in not continuing this matter to the <u>previously set and</u> reserved trial setting, which was signed by Judge Sanders and entered in the trial court's records. This alternate trial date that the trial court agreed to and reserved for the parties was only six (6) months from the initial trial date and would have completely eliminated any prejudice alleged by DRMC. The trial court failed to explore every alternate means of eliminating any prejudice to DRMC prior to striking Moore's experts from testifying and then granting summary judgment against Moore.

PROPOSITIONS OF LAW

- I. WHEN DETERMINING TO EXCLUDE AN EXPERT WITNESS UNTIMELY DISCLOSED AS A SANCTION, THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD CONSIDER:
 - (A) THE EXPLANATION FOR THE PARTY'S FAILURE TO RESPOND (I.E., WAS THE FAILURE DELIBERATE, SERIOUSLY NEGLIGENT, OR AN EXCUSABLE OVERSIGHT);
 - (B) THE IMPORTANCE OF THE EXPERT'S TESTIMONY;
 - (C) SURPRISE TO THE PARTY SEEKING PRECLUSION OF
 THE EXPERT'S TESTIMONY AND THE NEEDED TIME
 TO PREPARE TO MEET THE TESTIMONY FROM THE
 EXPERT; AND
- (D) THE POSSIBILITY OF A CONTINUANCE.

 Miss. Power & Light Co. v. Lumpkin, 725 So. 2d 721, 733-34 (Miss. 1998).
 - II. EVERY REASONABLE ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF ASSURING THE ELIMINATION OF ANY PREJUDICE TO THE MOVING PARTY AND A PROPER SANCTION AGAINST THE OFFENDING PARTY SHOULD BE EXPLORED BEFORE ORDERING THE EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE AS A SANCTION FOR A DISCOVERY VIOLATION.

Mariner Health Care, Inc. v. Estate of Edwards ex rel. Turner, 964 So. 2d 1138, 1152 (Miss. 2007).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT DR. SOBEL WAS NOT "FULLY" DISCLOSED BY THE EXPERT DESIGNATION DEADLINE.

The trial court ruled that Dr. Sobel was not "fully" designated by the expert deadline disclosure date of August 24, 2007. However, in Moore's initial designation, she stated that:

[Dr. Sobel] will provide testimony regarding the breach of the standard of care owed to Plaintiff by DRMC and Robert Corkern, M.D. [Moore] reserves the right to introduce the transcript of Dr. Sobel's deposition testimony in lieu of calling him live at trial. [Moore] expects to request that Dr. Sobel remain in the courtroom during the presentation of [Moore]'s and [DRMC]'s case, and therefore, Dr. Sobel's opinions may be modified by the evidence presented. Furthermore, Dr. Sobel may rebut any expert opinions offered by experts testifying on behalf of [DRMC]. All opinions of Dr. Sobel will be expressed in terms of reasonable medical probabilities and are based on his education, knowledge, training and experience. [Moore] reserves the right to supplement the substance of which Dr. Sobel is expected to testified to as discovery develops. A copy of Dr. Sobel's *Curriculum Vitae* is attached hereto as Exhibit "A."

(CP-612-14). Moore's initial Designation of Expert Witnesses was filed prior to the expiration of the deadline.

In *Holladay v. Holladay*, 776 So. 2d 662, 673, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

Nothing in the case law submitted by counsel or the pertinent procedural rule suggests that an expert will be restricted to testify only to the literal words from their opinion and a summary of the related grounds. The very use of the words "substance" and "summary" show that the Rule does not require an expert to state solely the words of their compiled reports. Such a view would place form over substance, and [...] we hold that a ruling to that effect is an abuse of discretion. The trial court's limitation of [the expert's] testimony under this issue was error.

(Emphasis added). In *State Highway Commission of Mississippi v. Havard*, 508 So. 2d 1099, 1104 (Miss. 1987), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that where a party tendering an expert witness stated that the expert would "base [his] opinion upon a series of comparable sales for approximately the past eight (8) years," albeit a "bare bones" response within the meaning of Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(4), it qualified as a "summary" of his opinions, and thus, in compliance with

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(4).

According to *Holladay* and *Havard*, Moore, in her initial designation of experts dated August 24, 2007, provided DRMC all that was required by Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(4). As such, it is clear that the trial court abused its discretion in striking Dr. Sobel's testimony, and this ruling should be reversed. In the alternative that this Court finds that Moore's experts were not "fully" disclosed, it is uncontested that they were "fully" disclosed at least forty-three (43) days before the trial of this matter was scheduled to begin. *See* discussion *infra*, II(A)(2).

A. DRMC Did Not File a Motion to Compel or Otherwise.

According to *Havard*, the trial court lacks the authority to bar the testimony of the expert witness if the party opposing the expert testimony fails to bring a motion to compel and have the trial court enter an order compelling the offering party to provide additional information or some other remedy to obtain additional information. *Id.* at 1104. In other words, a motion to compel is a *condition precedent* to obtaining an order barring an expert from testifying at trial. In the case sub judice, no motion to compel or otherwise was filed and brought before the trial court prior to the trial court striking Moore's experts. This is reversible error.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CLEARLY ERRED IN STRIKING MOORE'S EXPERT WITNESSES AND GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO DRMC.

"The discovery orders of the trial court will not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion." *Dawkins v. Redd Pest Control Co.*, 607 So. 2d 1232, 1235 (Miss. 1992).

In the case sub judice, the trial court excluded Moore's medical experts because they were not "fully" disclosed before a certain date (August 24, 2008) stated in the Agreed Scheduling Order

³ Moore did designate Dr. Sobel (and stated that he was expected to testify that DRMC and Corkern breached the standard of care in their treatment of Moore among other things) by the date (August 24, 2007) set out in the Agreed Scheduling Order. (CP-612-14).

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