IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2008-CA-00041

EVELYN GWEN MOORE	PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT
v.	
DELTA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER	DEFENDANT/APPELLEE
BRIEF OF APPELLEE	

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi Cause No. CI2005-61

Prepared and submitted by:

CHRISTOPHER W. WINTER
Mississippi Bar No.
MARY FRANCES S. ENGLAND
Mississippi Bar No.
Wilkins, Stephens & Tipton, PA
Post Office Box 4537
Greenville, Mississippi 38704
Telephone (662) 335-555
Facsimile (662) 335-5700

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2008-CA-00041

EVELYN GWEN MOORE

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

DELTA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A trial court is granted wide discretion in managing discovery and issuing scheduling orders, and an abuse-of-discretion standard of review applies to such orders. *Banks v. Hill*, 978 So. 2d 663, 665 (Miss. 2008), citing *Bowie v. Montfort Mem'l Hosp.*, 861 So. 2d 1037, 1042 (Miss. 2003). An abuse of discretion standard is required when reviewing a trial court's decision to sanction a party for violating a scheduling order. *Id.*, citing *Tinnon v. Martin*, 716 So. 2d 604, 611 (Miss. 1998). Mississippi trial judges:

[A]re afforded considerable discretion in managing the pre-trial discovery process in their courts, including the entry of scheduling orders setting out various deadlines to assure orderly pre-trial preparation resulting in timely disposition of the cases. Our trial judges also have a right to expect compliance with their orders, and when parties and/or attorneys fail to adhere to the provisions of these orders, they should be prepared to do so at their own peril.

Bowie v. Montfort Jones Mem'l Hosp., 861 So. 2d 1037, 1042 (Miss. 2003).

A de novo standard of review is applied to a lower court's grant or denial or summary judgment. *Bowie v. Montfort Mem'l Hosp.*, 861 So. 2d 1037, 1040 (Miss. 2003), citing *Hudson v. Courtesy Motors, Inc.*, 794 So. 2d 999, 1002 (Miss. 2001). After viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the decision of the trial court to grant summary judgment will be reversed only if a triable issue of fact exists. *Id.*, citing *Travis v. Stewart*, 680 So. 2d 214, 216 (Miss. 1996).

In the case sub judice, Plaintiff knew on March 14, 2005, when she filed her medical malpractice Complaint in this matter, she was required to have a medical expert prepared to testify against this Defendant. On October 24, 2005, in an attempt to avoid a dismissal of this action pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58, Plaintiff's counsel affirmed to the trial court, under oath,

that he had a reasonable basis to file suit based on expert opinions he obtained. By signing onto the Agreed Scheduling Order on or around June 6, 2007, Plaintiff knew the deadline for providing DRMC with the identity of all her experts and (1) the subject matter on which the experts are expected to testify, (2) the substance of the facts and opinions to which the experts are expected to testify and (3) a summary of the grounds for each opinion was August 24, 2007. Yet when the trial court's deadline had passed, Plaintiff had produced only the identity of Dr. Sobel. It was not until October 22, 2007 (i.e. - 59 days after the deadline, 11 days after DRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment, and 42 days prior to trial) that Plaintiff actually provided opinions for Dr. Sobel. Nurse Cattenhead was not identified until 19 days after the deadline had passed, and full opinions in compliance with Miss. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(4) have still not been produced for her. Plaintiff herein made no attempt to "designate any and all of her expert witnesses in compliance with Miss. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) on or before August 24, 2007," as ordered by this Court, nor did she move the Court for additional time to designate experts outside of the trial court's imposed deadline.

The trial court thoroughly analyzed the facts and law on the record when rendering its decision to strike Plaintiff's experts and subsequently grant DRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment since Plaintiff was left with no medical experts in this medical malpractice case. In its discretion, the trial court found that Plaintiff failed to adequately and timely designate her experts, and that Plaintiff offered no good cause why she failed to comply with the scheduling order. Therefore, the trial court's order should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. FACTS

A brief synopsis of the facts pertinent to DRMC's Brief are as follows:

March 18,2005 - Plaintiff filed her medical malpractice Complaint against DRMC and

Dr. Corkern.

April 11, 2005 - DRMC filed its Motion to Dismiss premised on Plaintiff not

attaching to her Complaint an Attorney Certificate in compliance with

MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-58. (R.E. 1; R. pg. 29-30).

October 24, 2005 - After being granted leave to amend on October 5, 2005 (after the

statute of limitations had expired), Plaintiff filed her Amended Complaint. Attached thereto as Exhibit A, Plaintiff filed a

"Certificate of Compliance" which stated:

Pursuant to M.C.A. § 11-1-58, as amended, Plaintiff's attorneys have reviewed the facts of this case and have consulted with at least one (1) expert qualified pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and the Mississippi Rules of Evidence who is qualified to give expert testimony as to the standard of care or negligence and who these attorneys reasonably believe is knowledgeable in the relevant issues involved in this particular action, and that these attorneys have concluded on the basis of such review and consultation that there is a reasonable basis for the commencement of such action.

April 9, 2007 - The trial court denied DRMC's Motion to Dismiss, ruling that

Plaintiff's Attorney Certificate was timely filed.

April 12, 2007 - DRMC propounded on Plaintiff its expert witness Interrogatories in compliance with Miss. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i). (R.E. 2; R. pg. 526-

527).

June 6, 2007 - The trial court entered its Order of Continuance and Agreed Scheduling Order. (R.E. 3; R. pg. 548-549). Therein, this Court set as

a deadline in section #1 the following:

That Plaintiff shall fully and completely designate any

and all of her expert witnesses in compliance with MISS. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) on or before August 24, 2007. That Defendant shall fully and completely designate any and all of its expert witnesses in compliance with the MISS. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) on or before September 24, 2007. (Emphasis in original).

August 21, 2007

Plaintiff filed Plaintiff, Evelyn Gwen Moore's Designation of Expert Witnesses. (R.E. 4; R. pg. 612-614). Therein, Plaintiff identified as her expert Richard M. Sobel, M.D., M.P.H., but failed to (1) state the subject matter on which this expert is expected to testify, (2) state the substance of the facts and opinions to which the expert is expected to testify and (3) state a summary of the grounds for each opinion, all in compliance with MISS. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) and ordered by this Court.

August 24, 2007

Plaintiff's expert designation deadline expired.

September 12, 2007 -

Plaintiff filed Plaintiff Evelyn Gwen Moore's Supplemental Designation of Expert Witnesses, and therein identified Richard M. Sobel, M.D., M.P.H. and Netra B. Cattenhead, CFNP. (R.E. 5; R. pg. 649-65). Plaintiff again failed to (1) state the subject matter on which this expert is expected to testify, (2) state the substance of the facts and opinions to which the expert is expected to testify and (3) state a summary of the grounds for each opinion for Dr. Sobel in compliance with MISS. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) as ordered by this Court. Plaintiff likewise failed to (1) state the subject matter on which this expert is expected to testify and (2) state a summary of the grounds for each opinion for Mrs. Cattenhead in compliance with MISS. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) as ordered by this Court.

September 24, 2007 -

Defendant filed DRMC's Responses to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories, which contained in response to Interrogatory No. 17 the identity of Defendant's experts (*i.e.* - Michael Stoddard, M.D., Rita Wray, RN, James Boyd, M.D., Robert Corkern, M.D.) and a full designation in compliance with MISS. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i).

September 24, 2007 -

Defendant's expert designation deadline expired.

October 11, 2007

DRMC filed its Motion for Summary Judgment.

October 22, 2007

A mere forty-two (42) days prior to the commencement of the trial of this cause (i.e. - On December 3, 2007), Plaintiff filed Plaintiff, Evelyn Gwen Moore's, Second Supplemental Designation of Expert Witnesses. Plaintiff still failed to (1) state the subject matter on which this expert is expected to testify and (2) state a summary of the grounds for each opinion for Mrs. Cattenhead in compliance with MISS. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) as ordered by this Court. (R.E. 6; R. pg. 786-800).

November 1, 2007

DRMC filed a Motion to Strike Moore's experts, as they were designated untimely. (R.E. 7; R. pg. 1014-81).

At the November 1, 2007, hearing on DRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiff's counsel conceded that Plaintiff's initial designation of Dr. Sobel, although filed prior to the Plaintiff's expert designation deadline, was a blanket "breach of standard of care" because "at that point, [he] had not been provided with a final expert opinion." (R.E. 8; Tr. pg. 12). Pertaining to Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court 4.04, Plaintiff's counsel argued that despite the scheduling order, the Plaintiff's initial designation of Dr. Sobel and her first supplemental designation were completed sixty days in advance of trial but conceded that the second supplemental designation was completed forty-two days in advance of trial. (R.E. 8; Tr. pg. 15-16).

At the November 13, 2007, hearing on DRMC's Motion to Strike Plaintiff's medical experts, Plaintiff's counsel argued that after the trial court denied DRMC's Motions to Dismiss in April 2007, they had "been doing everything [they could] to get this thing to go forward because, in essence, this case just really started in April." (R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 25). The trial court pointed out to Plaintiff's counsel that the case began in 2005, when the Plaintiff filed her Complaint. (R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 25 & 37. When Plaintiff argued that an alternative trial date had been scheduled, the trial court reasoned:

I don't think the alternative date satisfies. I don't think we can muddle this by saying if you didn't designate your experts in a timely manner, oh, well, we have an

alternate date. Because even though in other trials the date may not be agreed upon, that's always out there.

There's always that possibility that if you don't designate on time, then we can just continue the case. I don't believe that was the intent of the rule.

(R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 38).

As to Plaintiff's late designation of Ms. Cattenhead, Plaintiff's counsel offered as good cause the fact that he began trying to retain experts immediately following the trial court's denial of DRMC's Motion to Dismiss and that experts need time to review the information and draft an opinion. (R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 54-55). However, defense counsel pointed out that during Ms. Cattenhead's November 2, 2007, deposition, defense counsel asked, "When were you first contacted to work on this case?" Ms. Cattenhead responded, "I was asked to be an expert witness, I guess, maybe a month ago. Was it? I believe it was a month ago." (R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 40). In response, Plaintiff's counsel said he could not remember when he contacted her. (R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 40).

In addition, Plaintiff's counsel argued that he designated Dr. Sobel prior to the deadline by providing Dr. Sobel's name, address, telephone number, CV and that DRMC and Dr. Corkern breached the standard of care. (R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 56-58). Defense counsel pointed out that the initial designation stated, "The above-listed expert will provide testimony regarding the breach of the standard of care owed to plaintiff by DRMC and Robert Corkern," not that DRMC and Dr. Corkern breached the standard of care. (R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 58).

As to Miss. R. Civ. P. 26, Plaintiff's counsel stated that he believed Plaintiff was in compliance with Rule 26 "at least with Dr. Sobel." (R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 59). He also stated that, "I do certainly understand that the Court ordered us to have it done by August the 24th. All I can say is that I cannot provide them with something I don't have yet," and he chose to not move the trial court for

additional time to designate and provide an expert opinion. (R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 59-60). The trial court responded:

You knew these deadlines, and you knew the remedy if you could not meet the deadline, and you chose not to waste the Court's time or whatever you said, and you knew the burden that would be placed on your client if the Court granted the motion, and counsel made these decisions. The Court does not accept that.

(R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 66).

When rendering its opinion, the trial court stated on the record the findings of fact and conclusions of law, stating:

I have reviewed the file with the cases as they pertain to today's motion, and I looked carefully at the timeline that plaintiffs included in their response; and when we came to this part today, there were some differences or omissions on that document that are of concern to the Court. September 24th, the designation filed; September 12th, the first supplemental designation; and October 23rd, 2007, the second supplemental designation.

Rule 404, all discovery must be completed within 90 days from service of an answer by the applicable defendant. We know that there was a year where this case was derailed, and we had to contact plaintiff's counsel in order to get this case moving again.

The argument that plaintiffs – plaintiff, one, Evelyn Gwen Moore – seems to base everything on, I noted from their argument, which at times was difficult to follow, but counsel said he asked – defense asked more than once on more than one occasion about their designation, and I gleaned from that that there was some agreement as to that as opposed to leave of the Court and for good cause asking for an extension. Counsel also said in his argument that another reason was they simply did not have the information and as soon as the experts would get it to them that they would get it to counsel opposite.

Again, if they needed to relax the deadline, good cause should be shown. I did not hear special circumstances wherein the Court should fail to abide and follow the rules. Counsel said that the opinions were seasonably supplemented, and I believe the status of the law is that we should examine the cases on a case by case basis. If we look back on where we are with this case and the amending of the initial complaint and the reasons – and the Court has already ruled and stated its reason for that in allowing counsel the opportunity to amend where counsel stated they had

some series of problems within their office that prohibited them from complying and following....

If a party is simply unable to comply or does not comply, the Court should consider carefully whether or not that was willful or done in bad faith. While the Court stops short of saying that this was bad faith, the Court does find that plaintiff has simply failed to comply.

We were again presented today with the deposition – a portion of the deposition where the plaintiff says that – the defense says that one of their experts was not contacted until after the deadline. Plaintiff responded by saying they had submitted the name of this expert in excess of 30 days and that that witness may have been mistaken.

Again, looking at the totality of these circumstances as outlined in *Bowie v. Montfort Jones Memorial Hospital* and having heard and questioned plaintiff as to the reasons for this delay, and even having asked plaintiff – asked the defense in the discretion of the Court what prejudice would be had, and considering that defense has had to repeatedly request of plaintiff to provide them information on the experts and from plaintiff finding that their response was "as soon as we get them, we'll get it to you," knowing that they were outside of these deadlines and failing to seek leave of the Court in order that they may supplement and prepare for trial, the Court finds that plaintiff has failed to properly and adequately respond in a timely manner and provide the substance of the facts and opinions to which their expert is expected to testify, and that the motion to strike should be granted.

(R.E. 9; Tr. pg. 77-81). Following, the trial court entered an order striking Plaintiff's experts and granting DRMC's motion for summary judgment.

II. CASE LAW

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

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